

Decomposition and nitrogen transformations in digested sewage sludge applied to mine tailings-effects of temperature, soil moisture, pH and plants

Pär Wennman

Licentiate Thesis

Reports from the Department of Soil Sciences • 34 Uppsala 2004

Abstract

Wennman, P. 2004. Decomposition and nitrogen transformations in digested sewage sludge applied to mine tailings -effects of temperature, soil moisture, pH and plants. Licentiate thesis.

ISSN 1652-4748, ISBN 91-576-6628-8

Applying sewage sludge to mine tailings to encourage growth of vegetation in order to prevent environmental problems such as erosion and leaching of metals began around 1970. Use of sewage sludge for mine land reclamation is today an acceptable area of application and is in many cases preferable to spreading sludge as an organic fertilizer on agricultural land, since many sludges contain metals and pathogens. The sludge has been shown to be favourable compared to other additives that do not contain organic matter with respect to improved soil properties and nutrient cycling.

The present work was conducted to elucidate the influence of temperature and soil moisture in an incubation experiment on the dynamics of decomposition and nitrogen (N) mineralization in digested sewage sludge mixed with pyrite mine tailings from the Aitik copper mine, Gällivare, Sweden. The data were fitted to a first order two-compartment model. The importance of pH and plants, barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and red fescue (*Festuca rubra*) was studied in a greenhouse experiment. The experimental conditions (temperature, moisture and pH), were chosen to represent situations occurring under field conditions.

Temperature and soil moisture had clear effects on microbial activity in the tailingssludge mixture and explained 93% of the variance in respiration rate constants. The proportions of carbon and nitrogen mineralized from the substrate during approximately 100 days, measured in the incubation and the pot experiment, were between 20 and 30% and 15 and 35% respectively. The C:N ratio was roughly constant (8-10) throughout the experimental periods. From these data, good estimates of the amounts mineralized during the first season under different climatic conditions can be obtained. Interestingly, the amounts mineralized N (net) in the pots were much lower than the determined changes in organic N, suggesting that large amounts were lost as gas, most likely via denitrification.

Key words: reclamation, mine tailings, sewage sludge, decomposition, nitrogen, temperature, moisture, model, pH and plants.

Author's address: Pär Wennman, Department of Soil Sciences, SLU, P.O. Box 7014, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. E-mail: <u>Par.Wennman@mv.slu.se</u>

Contents

Introduction, 7

Background, 9

The influence of organic matter for plant establishment on tailings, 9 Temperature, moisture and pH as factors affecting microbial activity, 10 History of the field site, 11

Objectives, 12

Materials and methods, 12

Copper mine tailings and digested sewage sludge, 12 Experimental design, 14 Incubation experiment, 14 Pot experiment, 14

Analysis and data treatment, 13 Background and principles for decay models, 15 Substrate (tailing + sludge) and plant material, 16 Statistics, 16

Results and discussion, 16

Temperature and moisture effects on C-fluxes, comparisons between modeled and measured values (Paper I), 16 Effects of temperature and moisture on net N mineralization (Paper I), 18 Soil acidity and buffer capacity - relationships to microbial activity (C and N mineralization) (Paper II), 18 Plant influence on N mineralization (Paper II), 19 Synthesis of Paper I and Paper II, 19

Conclusions, 21

A future outlook and field applications, 21

References, 22

Acknowledgements, 25

Appendix

Papers I and II

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I. Wennman, P. & Kätterer, T. The effect of moisture and temperature on C and N mineralization in mine tailings mixed with sewage sludge in a longterm incubation experiment. *(Manuscript)*
- II. Wennman, P. & Ledin, S. Nitrogen transformations in sewage sludge mixed into mine tailings. *(Manuscript)*

Introduction

Awareness regarding environmental problems relating to surface mining increased during the beginning of the Twentieth Century. Hazards arising from the mine waste were, like today, degradation of the landscape, leaching of heavy metals, acidification of freshwater and groundwater and wind and water erosion (Gemmell, 1977; Bradshaw & Chadwick, 1980; Mays, Sistani & Soileau, 2000). The need for mine waste treatment became more and more obvious and reclamation by plant establishment began around 1940 in the United States (Plass, 2000) and in the early 1970s in Sweden (Lindgren, 1975).

Mine tailings constitute an extremely harsh environment for plants compared to natural soils. Growth and survival are limited by unfavourable physical, chemical and biological factors, including sand-blasting effects from wind eroded sharpedged particles, drought due to low water holding capacity, lack of plant nutrients, occasionally high surface temperatures and low pH and metal toxicity.

In the early reclaimed mine spoils, inorganic fertilizers in combination with lime were added, in order to improve soil properties for plant growth. Grasses together with legumes (*e.g.* white clover, *Trifolium repens*) were the species mostly frequently used, with their advantages of fast initial cover of the spoil or tailings surface. However, fertilization in the absence of organic matter was not enough and often resulted in an inadequate and slow soil-plant ecosystem development, especially at acidic sulphide mine sites. Plant establishment with sewage sludge as a soil amendment was tested and was shown to be more successful than previous methods without organic matter. Application of sewage sludge to mine waste has been conducted as an acceptable reclamation method over the past 30 years (Haering, Daniels & Feagley, 2000).

During the year 2000, sewage sludge from Swedish treatment plants was landfilled (34%), used on agricultural land (21%), used on other land (32%) including mine land reclamation and used in other ways or temporarily stored (13%) (Sveriges officiella statistik, 2000). Since the year 2000, the use of sludge on mine land for reclamation has increased and on agricultural land it has decreased. Soil amendment, fertilization and mulching are the main reasons for the use of sewage sludge on mine land (Ledin, 1999).

High amounts of available nitrogen and phosphorus in the sludge and the beneficial influence on soil properties related to plant growth are the most important reasons for the use of sludge for mine reclamation by plant establishment. During decomposition of the sludge, large amounts of inorganic nitrogen and other nutrients are released and made available for plants, or further transformed in microbial processes. There are several factors limiting decomposition, whereof temperature and soil water are most important. Soil acidity may limit decomposition if pH drops below critical levels. A high buffering capacity is important when sludge is used as a soil amendment on sulphide mine tailings, since these tailings become acidified when exposed to oxygen. pH changes are thereby reduced and the uptake of nutrients and biochemical processes for soil organisms and plant roots can continue without reduction.

If sewage sludge is applied initially, with the aim of supporting growth over several years to come, the amount of sludge must be so large that plants can only absorb parts of the mineralized N during the first season. The rest of the transformed N may turn into N_2 , but may also be lost as nitrate to groundwater or volatilized as dinitrogen oxide or ammonia and thereby pose a threat to the natural environment.

Background

The influence of organic matter for plant establishment on tailings

Plant growth and survival in sulphide mine tailings are restricted due to several factors. High levels of sulphide minerals such as pyrite may, when exposed to oxidation, decrease pH in the tailings and release toxic levels of metals (Ferguson & Erickson, 1988). Lack of plant available nutrients and organic matter in the tailings is obviously even more essential (Gemmell, 1977; Sikora *et al.*, 1982). Other factors such as drought, high surface temperature and wind erosion may also restrict growth but organic matter can change the situation in favour of plant growth.

Several studies have shown the influence of organic matter for successful establishment on sulphide mine tailings. The long-term effects (some years) are most important (Seaker & Sopper, 1988). Indeed, addition of chemical fertilizers and lime can maintain a plant community temporarily, but cannot improve soil properties and create a sustainable plant-soil ecosystem as is the case with organic amendments, *e.g.* sewage sludge, paper mill sludge, animal manure or peat. Organic matter can also be applied as a mulch to control erosion and weed growth and to conserve moisture.

Sewage sludge has been used as a soil amendment in agriculture and land reclamation purposes for more than 30 years and its effects on soil properties are well documented, and do not differ from those of other organic substrates. Specific studies on mine spoil reclamation with sewage sludge have been performed. Joost, Olsen & Jones (1987) observed decreased organic matter content and decreased aggregate stability with time. Bulk density was lower, but pH and buffering capacity increased compared to unamended sites. The buffering capacity in the sludge is of particular importance in reclamation of acidic spoils. Differences in buffering capacity and pH are not only determined by the amounts added, but also by the type of stabilization during treatment of the sewage water for precipitation of phosphate. The most common salts used are aluminium sulphate, iron sulphate, iron chloride and calcium hydroxide (Kirchmann, 1988). Stabilization by Ca-salts has been shown to increase pH in the sludge more than the use of other metal salts, e.g. Fe- and Al-stabilized salts (Sjökvist & Wiklander-Johansson, 1985; Soon, Bates & Moyer, 1978). Enhanced root distribution to deeper soil layers is another benefit observed in mine spoils amended with sewage sludge (Seaker & Sopper, 1988). Distribution of roots itself influences the mechanical stability by soil penetration and also enhances microbial activity in the rhizosphere by release of root exudates (Uren, 2001).

Temperature, moisture and pH as factors affecting microbial activity

Climatic factors, *i.e.* temperature and precipitation influencing soil moisture, are the most important factors for mineralization rates in most soils (Stanford & Epstein, 1974; Kirschbaum, 1995; Antonopoulos, 1999). Both chemical and biological reactions proceed faster at high temperature (Waksman & Gerretsen, 1931; Kirschbaum, 1995; Lomander, Kätterer & Andrén, 1998a). Nitrogen mineralization, *i.e.* ammonification, has been shown to continue to a considerable range above 35 °C (Harmsen & Kolenbrander, 1965). However, in nature the activity is normally reduced at these high temperatures due to limited water availability.

At temperatures below 0 °C, the microbial activity is low and restricted to availability of unfrozen water occurring in the smallest micro pores, which can keep water in liquid form at low matric potential. Indeed certain bacteria, *i.e.* psychrophiles adapted to cold environments, *e.g.* tundra climate, have the ability to decompose organic matter down to -7 °C (Flanagan & Veum, 1974).



Fig. 1. Schematic view of the most influential biotic and abiotic factors affecting decomposition of organic matter, such as sewage sludge. Factors with bold text were studied in this work where arrows indicate impact and direction. Naturally there are several interactions among these factors.

Soil water and microbial activity often show a linear relation up to optimal moisture levels around 1.5 MPa (Stanford & Epstein, 1974), but other functions, such as log linear relationships, also describe the moisture response on

decomposition (Lomander, Kätterer & Andrén, 1998b). At moisture conditions close to the wilting point or at water saturation, the activity decreases rapidly. Microbial activity due to water consumption is regulated in a direct way in the metabolism, through hydrolytic reactions and in cell respiration, and in an indirect way where water acts as a medium in which molecules, ions and gases are transported (Jansson, Johansson & Alvenäs, 1989). Specific microbial processes, *e.g.* movement of protozoa, nitrification, bacterial growth or fungal growth, are often limited to the thickness of the water film on aggregates corresponding to a certain water potential. The groups of microorganisms responsible for these processes are exposed to water stress when the thickness is below a critical level (Harris, 1981).

Soil pH or soil acidity is considered to be a key factor for microbial activity. Both C and N mineralization are affected positively if pH is increased as a result of liming acid soils (Andersson & Nilsson, 2001) or lowering pH in neutral soils by adding sulphuric acid (Fu & Tabatabai, 1987). At the same time, however, mineralization occurs over a broad range of pH levels, without a marked reduction in activity. The explanation is that single groups of species in a diverse population of decomposers, all with different pH optima, can be replaced as pH values deviate from their pH optima. For instance the number of bacteria and actinomycetes is decreased at low pH whereas fungi are more abundant as a result of less competition. However, when organisms are exposed to pH stress, it can be a direct effect of increased hydrogen ion concentration or a secondary effect of toxicity from other elements or molecules (Alexander, 1980).

Microbial activity in the rhizosphere, the immediate zone close to the root hairs, is far more important than the activity in the bulk soil (Pinton, Varanini & Nannipieri, 2001). A natural effect of root activity is decreased soil moisture content as an effect of water uptake, which in turn slows down microbial activity. Root distribution influences soil moisture and aeration via changes in soil structure. Other effects are more related to the chemical environment regulated by excretion of compounds from the roots, *i.e.* rhizodeposition. Deposition of C-rich compounds, mostly occurring from growing roots, increases the C pool in the rhizosphere and hence the C:N ratio. The effect can be reduced N mineralization or even a net immobilization (Janzen & Radder, 1989). However, the effect of C lost from the roots on net N mineralization is contradictory and may also lead to higher amounts of N being available for roots due to stimulation of the microbial populations (Clarholm, 1985). As much as 40 % is estimated to be lost of the plants primary C production through rhizodeposition (Brimecombe, De Leij & Lynch, 2001).

History of the field site

At Aitik, Gällivare (67°0.06'N; 20°0.8'E) in northern Sweden, every year since 1997 field experiments have been performed for determination of yield and C and N mineralization. Different soil amendments, mostly sewage sludge, as well as different plant species and management practices have been used. Further reading

about soil amendment and plant establishment on mine tailings can be found in Ledin (1999) and Barnhisel, Darmody & Daniels (2000).

Objectives

The overall aim of this work was to determine the influence of temperature and moisture for the decomposition dynamics of digested sewage sludge mixed into pyrite mine tailings in an incubation experiment and to examine how plants and pH affect microbial activity and nitrogen mineralization in the mixture through studies in a pot experiment.

Materials and methods

Copper mine tailings and digested sewage sludge

Mine tailings from the field site at Boliden copper mine Aitik, were mixed with digested sewage sludge from the sewage treatment plant at Henriksdal, Stockholm. The mixture represents a homogeneous substrate for plant growth and microbial turnover. The proportion of sludge used was 20% by volume and approximately 6% by weight on a dry matter basis, and was similar for both the incubation and the pot experiment.

The tailings produced at the Aitik copper mine were moderately oxidized and the sulphur level was determined to around 2.5% and pH was 4.2 at the start of the experiments. Sulphur concentrations are primarily dependent on the pyrite content and vary between 0.6-4.75% by weight depending on from where in the tailings pond the material is taken. The tailings are a residual product of crushed ore and consist mainly of quartz, feldspar, plagioclase, muscovite, biotite and traces of pyrite (FeS₂) (Abrahamsson, 1994, unpublished observations). The texture varies with location in the pond but fine sand is the dominating fraction. Silt- and clay-sized particles occur in small amounts and the texture can be classified as a silty loam.

The sludge from Stockholm Vatten used in this study had been stabilized by iron sulphate, dewatered to a water content of around 70% and anaerobically digested at a temperature of 33-37 °C according to the normal procedure in the sewage treatment plant. The sludge was transported from Stockholm to Gällivare and a sufficient amount was taken from the field at the mining site (Aitik) for preparation at the Department of Soil Sciences, SLU, Uppsala. The sludge material was stored at outdoor temperature from April to June for 6-8 weeks and then stored at -18 °C before preparation for the experiments.

As a result of the decomposition during the digestion treatment, the C:N ratio of the sludge was reduced to around 10, and thus was far below the critical ratio (20-25) when the organic nitrogen is used to a higher extent for anabolism of the

microbial biomass (net immobilized), than used as an energy source (net mineralized). However, the C:N ratio of the organic matter is only a rough indicator of net mineralization. It is so because the rate of C and N mineralization is a mean value of the turnover rates of different forms of C and N in the residue, *e.g.* cellulose, sugars, proteins and fatty acids (Whitmore & Handayanto, 1997). Note that not only the C:N ratio, but also the microbial efficiency may differ in utilizing N for mineralization or immobilization in digested sludge, where dead microbial cells dominate, compared to N utilization in crop residues (Whitmore & Handayanto, 1997; Badalucco & Kuikman, 2001). Growth of populations of heterotrophic bacteria (lag phase), although the C:N ratio is less than 20, will likely result in a net immobilization (Fig. 4, Paper I).

Concentrations of different elements occurring in different types of digested sewage sludge vary considerably. The sludge used in the current experiments was roughly similar in N concentration and higher in ammonium and phosphorus concentration compared to other Swedish sludges, while its potassium content was lower. The pH values also show similarities reflecting the same type of precipitation chemicals used for phosphorus, where aluminium sulphate and iron sulphate salts are common. Not only chemicals used in treatment, but also quality of the sewage water and storage of the sludge have an influence (Adegbidi & Briggs, 2003). The sludge characteristics also change over the year as a result of the varying quality of the sewage water going into the treatment plant. In addition, the period of storage and type of treatment before soil application have an impact on the concentrations of different elements (Pierzynski, 1994; Bernal et al., 1998). Availability of N for microbial growth and the potential for net N mineralization are therefore far from equal in different sewage sludges. In Table 1, nutrient concentrations of different types of sludges are compared using data from Sommers (1977); Sjökvist & Wiklander-Johansson (1985), and Stockholm Vatten (2002).

Table 1. Characteristics of anaerobically digested sludge showing range and mean values (within brackets): A) Sommers (1977). Data from approximately 150 sewage treatment plants in United States, B) SLL (1985). Results from a Swedish survey in 1980/81, which included hundreds of treatment plants, C) Stockholm Vatten (2002). Henriksdal treatment plant range in monthly values for the year 2002, and D) Sludge analyzed for the present experiment, n=4

Parameter	Concentrations (g kg ⁻¹)					
Sludge	Α	В	С	D		
C-org ^{A, B, D)} Loss on ignition ^{C)}	180-390 (276)	-	384-469 (426)	264-261 (262)		
N-tot	5-176 (50)	5-110 (40)	12-43 (38)	33.7-34.3 (34)		
NH ₄ -N	0.12-67.6 (9.4)	0.5-22 (4)	3-13 (10)	-		
NO ₃ -N	0.002-4.9 (0.52)	-	-	-		
P-tot	<50-143 (33)	7-45 (25)	36-43 (39)	37.6-39.8 (38.5)		
Κ	0-26 (5.2)	1-7 (2.5)	1.0-1.7 (1.3)	-		
S	8-15 (12)	-	8-10 (9)	-		
Ca	19-200 (58)*	2-400 (20)*	15-23 (18)	-		
pН	-	5-13 (7.5)	7.3-8.9 (7.8)	8.18-8.23 (8.2)		

* High variation, depending on type of precipitation chemical used.

Experimental design

Incubation experiment

An incubation experiment running over 3 months (96 days), was set up for C- and N-mineralization, with determination of CO_2 evolution and accumulated mineralized N respectively at constant moisture contents and temperatures. These variables were combined at 4 different levels of moisture: 2, 8, 14 and 24% by weight (corresponding to 10, 39, 69 and 118% of water holding capacity determined after drainage of 100 g of saturated tailings-sludge mixture in a funnel with a fine mesh to equilibrium and drying thereafter for 24 hours), with 4 different temperatures: -1, 5, 10 and 15 °C, altogether 16 treatments with four replicates. Samples were incubated in an ES 500 incubator, Nüve, Germany.

Soil moisture contents were chosen to cover a range from beneath the wilting point up to expected optimal conditions for microbial activity, and temperatures were from a level with expected negligible microbial activity up to maximum temperature expected just below the soil surface in the field.

The experimental set-up for determination of mineral N included destructive sampling. The number of samples prepared was therefore higher compared to the number of CO_2 measurements, or compared to all combinations of moistures and temperatures multiplied by the number of sampling occasions, which in this experiment was five. Of course destructive sampling in a time sequence requires a homogeneously prepared substrate in order to show results of the process studied, rather than results due to the original variations in the substrate.

Pot experiment

In the pot experiment, barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and red fescue (*Festuca rubra*) were used to study the influence of root activity on N mineralization. The fast growing barley consumes the dominant part of the nutrients. The pot experiment was carried out in a greenhouse from early September to mid December, (14 weeks), with a mean temperature between +12 °C and +15 °C, and with 7 treatments in 4 blocks, in a split-plot design. Treatments were as follows: 3 levels of pH (4, 5 and 5.5) in irrigation water applied to four pots with and without plants respectively, plus a control treatment, (pots with pure tailings irrigated with deionized water, pH 5.5).

By addition of sulphuric acid, the pH levels in irrigation water were chosen in order to achieve a chemical environment in the soil solution similar to that when pyrite is oxidized, and assumed to be representative of the variation that may occur at different pyrite levels in the tailings. The pot volume was 7 litres and the construction included a drainage pipe at the bottom from which drainage water was taken for determination of pH. Drainage water was recycled to the pots in order to minimize losses of nutrients.

Samples were taken at harvest with a soil corer made for pot sampling. From each pot, 4 sub-samples were taken through the soil profile to form a general sample, which was homogenized and stored in plastic bags at -18 °C prior to analysis. Plant material was harvested at flowering using grass shears. After drying

at 38 °C, air-dried samples were weighed for yield determination and milled. Ear, straw and leaf of the barley plant were milled together.

Analysis and data treatment

Background and principles for decay models

A simple model for turnover of organic matter was used in order to predict the dependence on temperatures and soil moisture of the process during periods not covered in this experiment. After obtaining the estimated data from the model, curves fitted to temperature and moisture response can be extended in time or at higher temperatures and moisture levels by extrapolation.

The simplest model assumes a homogeneous substrate decomposing at a certain rate throughout the period of measurement. By adding one or more pools to the first pool, a two- or multi-compartment model is constructed. The more complex the substrate subjected to the model, the more pools have to be assumed for an accurate description of the decomposition. Multi-compartment models are often used when litter decomposition is described. Decomposition of a substrate occurs predominantly following first order kinetics, *i.e.* the substrate levels are limiting for the turnover rate, which is assumed to be proportional to the substrate concentration (Paul & Clark, 1996). Indeed other reaction types also occur, but are not described here.

A first order reaction can be mathematically described as:

$$\frac{dA}{dt} = -kA \qquad \text{eqn} (1)$$

where the amount of A during time t is turned over at the rate -k. Integration generates the following equation;

$$A_t = A_0 e^{-kt} \qquad \text{eqn} (2)$$

where A_t is the concentration of the substrate remaining at any time t.

In our experiment (Paper I), data from the measured CO₂-C fluxes obtained from incubation were fitted to a two-compartment model, following first order kinetics. Carbon mineralization was assumed to proceed from two independent substrate fractions with specific pool sizes, readily decomposable (α) and slowly decomposable (I- α) degrading in parallel at two different turnover rates k_l and k_r (Jenkinson, 1977), with (α), (I- α), k_l and k_r as input parameters,

$$C_{flux} = C_0 \left[\alpha \, k_l \exp(-k_l t) + (1 - \alpha) \, k_r \exp(-k_r t) \right] \qquad \text{eqn (3)}$$

A two-compartment model can also be used when the pools are assumed to interact with each other. This is the case when the refractory component is converted to the labile state (consecutive first order) (Andrén & Paustian, 1987). However, in this experiment changes in the number of pools or interactions did not

increase R^2 , and were therefore not used. The assumption of input parameters is determined by several factors, *e.g.* substrate quality, substrate quantity and inhibiting factors such as heavy metals (T. Kätterer, pers. com).

For description of model fitting by analysis of regression, for the model and for the temperature and moisture response functions, see Paper I.

Substrate (tailings + sludge) and plant material

Determination of dynamics of CO_2 evolution (C_{flux} mg g⁻¹ substrate day⁻¹) in the tailings-sludge mixture during incubation was performed using NaOH as a carbon dioxide trap placed together with the incubated samples. The amount of CO_2 respired was measured by titration with HCl according to Stotzky (1965). Mineralized N (NH₄-N and NO₃-N) was measured colorimetrically on a TRAACS 800 auto-analyzer (Bran and Luebbe, Germany), after extraction with KCl. N mineralization was determined from accumulated mineral N during incubation and from initial organic N content.

In the pot experiment, total C and N soil samples (air-dried at 45 °C for 3 days) and plant N was analyzed on a LECO® CHN 932 analyzer. Changes in organic C and N were determined on dried samples by subtracting the amount C and organic N in the substrate at the end from the initial values (C-tot_{start} – C-tot_{end} and N-org_{start} – N-org_{end}). From the plant material, N absorption was calculated after measuring aboveground biomass production (including estimation of N accumulated in roots) and N concentrations measured on dried plant litter. Estimation of N accumulation in root biomass was calculated from the measured aboveground biomass and related to known N content in barley, root:shoot ratio≈0.2, according to Hansson, Pettersson & Paustian (1987).

Statistics

Data were treated using a randomized design in the incubation and a split-plot design in the pot experiment. Variance analyses (ANOVA) were performed using SAS procedure GLM (SAS Institute Inc., 1999). A non-linear regression analysis was performed to determine the variability between the modelled and the measured carbon data. For comparison of mean values, Students' t-test assuming equal variances were used. In the pot experiment, the dataset was also treated without outliers and compared for test of significance.

Results and discussion

Temperature and moisture effects on C_{fluxes}, comparisons between modeled and measured values (Paper I)

Both temperature and soil moisture clearly had effects on microbial activity in the tailings-sludge mixture. These variables explained 93% of the variance in respiration rate constants. During 14 weeks of incubation, significant differences

were shown in mineralized carbon (C), ranging from 2% (at -1 °C and 2% moisture) to around 20% (at 15°C and 24% moisture) of initial C content in the substrate. By studying the dynamics of C_{flux} (evolved mg CO₂-C g⁻¹ substrate day⁻¹) it became obvious that the activity was more suppressed at 2% moisture compared to the three higher moisture contents (8%, 14% and 24%) (Fig. 1, Paper I). This was also shown in the temperature and moisture response functions, which were exponential and log linear shaped respectively (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Temperature and moisture response functions obtained from the incubation experiment. The highest temperature and moisture are reference values which the lower values are related to, and are set to 1.0 without standard deviation.



Fig. 3. C_{flux} (mg CO₂-C g⁻¹ substrate day⁻¹) model values plotted against reference values, R^2 =0.96.

The model, based on the obtained rate constants (*k*), fitted with high accuracy, $R^2=0.96$, to the measured CO₂ evolution (Fig. 3). According to the model, during the first 15 to 25 days the decomposition rates were markedly higher than during the rest of the period, implying a relatively higher activity of microorganisms decomposing the readily decomposable carbon (*a*) than those decomposing the slowly decomposable carbon (*1-a*). The C:N ratio in the sludge was 9 and reflects a situation in which most of the readily decomposable carbon, *i.e.* sugars, amino acids and short chain fatty acids, had already been turned over during the digestion process in the treatment plant.

Effects of temperature and moisture on net N mineralization (Paper I)

Net N mineralization was also shown to depend on changes in temperature and moisture, as expected. However, no clear trend over the treatments was found, *i.e.* significant differences were shown only between some of the treatments, above all at temperatures and moisture conditions where the activity was low or intermediate (Table 4, Paper I). The highest amounts of N mineralized (13.5% to 15%) were similar at 10 °C and 15 °C with 14% and 24% moisture. Zak *et al.*, (1999) found that 60-70% more N was mineralized over 16 weeks at 10 °C than at 5 °C, independent of soil moisture. Interpreting data from treatments where the lowest activity occurred was difficult, due to large standard errors. Possible explanations for this are: low mineralization/ammonification activity or simultaneous mineralization and immobilization resulting in negligible net effects on the direction of N flow and to some extent with the destructive sampling strategy.

Initially, most of the mineralized N was in the form of NH_4^+ but considerable amounts of NO_3^- were formed during the latter part of the incubation period. According to temperature demands for nitrifying bacteria, shown to be most important above 5 °C (Malhi & McGill, 1982), we observed formation of nitrate only at 10 °C and 15 °C after 20 days. The nitrification rate was indicated to be higher than the net mineralization rate, *i.e.* formation of NH_4^+ at 24% moisture as long as nitrate was formed (Fig. 4, paper I). These observations indicate a low or negligible activity of the population of nitrifying bacteria at the start of the experiment, which is reflected by the absence of NO_3^- in the sludge. During the anaerobic digestion of the sludge, the unfavourable conditions for the nitrifying bacteria presumably prevent them from developing and regenerating.

Soil acidity and buffer capacity - relationships to microbial activity (C and N mineralization) (Paper II)

Neither C nor N mineralization (changes in organic N) was significantly affected by different pH levels in irrigation water during the experimental period. Coefficient of determination (R^2) of C mineralization related to pH and plants was explained to 60%, and without outliers it increased to 79.5%. For changes in organic N it was explained to 60% with and 84.8% without outliers respectively. As far as can be interpreted from the experimental data and what is known from the substrate quality, there are two main reasons for the results: 1) Buffering effect of the substrate. Buffering was seen from the leachate and soil pH (Fig. 2, Paper II), although it was shown that pH dropped during the period in some of the treatments. It was indicated that the formation of hydrogen ions was faster in pots with plants where pH in leachate water decreased faster compared to pots without plants. The origin of the additional hydrogen ions in soil solution is most likely from root uptake of NH_4^+ and other cations in exchange for H^+ from the cell metabolism. Hydrogen ions also originate in pots with and without plants from the nitrification process, which was shown to occur after some weeks (Fig. 4, Paper I) but also as a consequence of pyrite oxidation. 2) Heterogeneity in the substrate resulted in high variance between samples.

Plant influence on N mineralization (Paper II)

In the pot trial, the influence of root activity from barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and red fescue (*Festuca rubra*) on N mineralization (changes of organic N) was studied. According to the literature, the effects on N mineralization are the result of several processes working in opposite directions (Clarholm, 1985; Paustian *et al.*, 1990; Sjödahl Svensson, 1993). This, together with the heterogeneous material, may be the main reason for the absence of significant differences between treatments as an effect of varying root activity.

Synthesis of Paper I and Paper II

Decomposition and N mineralization were measured in both the incubation and pot experiment. The measurements were performed during approximately the same length of experimental period, namely between 13 and 14 weeks. It was therefore possible to make legitimate comparisons between the two experiments.

Before going into comparisons between the two experiments, it is appropriate to point out the likely occurrence of deposition of C-rich exudates and dead roots, which can be estimated to account for up to 40% of the plant's primary C production (Lynch & Whipps, 1990), where 50% (approximately) can be estimated to have been decomposed (T. Kätterer, pers. com.). Quantification of this process is not meaningful due to the high variation in C mineralization. However, a preliminary calculation from the pot experimental data indicated that the C mineralization could have been underestimated due to root-induced C by as much as 25% (or an increase from 18.5 to around 23%). The differences between pots with and without plants on average were still indicated to be large. According to the relatively small influences from what was discussed above, a rough estimation of the 'real' average C losses can be approximated to around 30%. By comparing this value (~30%) with C_{fluxes} from incubated samples (~20%) under optimal conditions (15 °C and 24% moisture), it was implied that C mineralization in the pots occurred faster than in incubated vessels. A correction for non-measured respiration during laboratory treatment at room temperature before starting the incubation had to be made. This carbon loss was estimated by temperature response curves from the incubation experiment to around 3% of the initial C content, hence C mineralization from fresh substrate was around 23%. Nevertheless, C mineralization from pots was still higher than from the incubated samples and there is a need to find a valid reason for that. It is possible that there was a higher temperature in the topsoil during sunny days than that adjusted to minimum temperatures (12 °C and 15 °C) and this is a possible and a reasonable explanation.

Table 2. Comparisons of mineralized C and N in g kg⁻¹ substrate and as a percentage from the incubation- and from the pot experiment, during 92-96 days. The initial C, organic N and mineral N contents were 14.2, 1.59 and 0.35 g kg⁻¹ substrate respectively and the C:N ratio ~9. Data from the pot experiment represent the mean values of the three pH treatments.*=moisture content. 1) Changes in organic N, 2) Net N mineralization.

Experiment	Treatment	C minerc	C mineralization		N mineralization	
Incubation Pot	15° C: 14 %* 15° C: 24 %* veg+	$\frac{(g kg^{-1})}{2.48}$ 2.77 2.63	<u>(% C)</u> 17.4 19.5 18.5	$\frac{(g \ kg^{-1})}{0.24}$ 0.23 0.41 ¹⁾	<u>(% N)</u> 15.1 14.4 25.8	
	veg-	5.52	38.8	$0.72^{(1)}$	45.3	
	veg+	-	-	$0.06^{(2)}$	4.1	
	veg-	-	-	$0.06^{(2)}$	3.7	

Changes in organic N roughly followed the amounts of C mineralized in both experiments (Table 2). However, there were tendencies for the C:N ratio to increase in the pot experiment during the experimental period, but also in the incubated samples after estimates of N released from the organic pool during laboratory treatment to be double the decomposed C, or roughly around 6%, which was estimated from the temperature response curves. The impact of changes in C:N ratio was in any case relatively small or less than 1 unit from the initial value of around 9. In the amounts mineralized from the pots, there was an indication that the substrate released relatively more N than C, approximately 26% versus 19% with plants and 45% versus 39% for the bare soil.

The final observation regarding N mineralization was remarkable. The observed amounts of mineral N in the pots (soil and/or plants) were 1/6 and 1/12 of that determined as changes in organic N. A theory for this discrepancy is N losses as gas via denitrification (NO, N₂O or N₂), occurring in water saturated pores or in pores with high respiration rates, or possibly through nitrification (NO and N₂O) if O₂ is available (Davidson, Swank & Perry, 1986). Either way, one must hesitate to conclude that such high amounts were lost, which raises the question of whether the changes in organic N values were overestimated. However, the conditions for denitrification in the pots were probably good after 3-4 weeks, since then NO₃⁻ was available (Fig. 4, Paper I) and this is one important factor for gas formation, along with oxygen limitation and availability of organic C (Tiedje *et al.*, 1988). High denitrification potentials in soils amended with digested sewage sludge with high availability of organic C are not unlikely (Artiola, 1997), and up to 70% of added N was suggested to be denitrified in fermented organic wastes (Volz & Heizel, 1979).

Conclusions

There is a strong influence of temperature and soil moisture on C mineralization and those were the two main factors for decomposition rates in the tailings-sludge mixture. As much as 20% to 30% C may be released from the substrate during 100 days under the climatic conditions assumed to predominate in the field in northern Sweden. At higher temperatures, more C (and N) is mineralized according to the observed temperature function obtained during incubation. Furthermore, there is an indication that plants have a lowering effect on measured N mineralization, primarily due to deposition of C-rich compounds from growing roots into the rhizosphere. High buffering capacity in the sludge is suggested to be the main reason for the lack of observed significant effects from different pH treatments.

The amounts of mineral N found in soil and/or plants at harvest were far less than the total changes in organic N in the tailings-sludge mixture, where considerable amounts were suggested to have left the system via denitrification and to some extent via nitrification.

A future outlook and field applications

How to continue from what we know so far? This type of quantitative study of the decomposition of digested sewage sludge mixed with mine tailings under controlled conditions is far from fully explored. Obviously, we are in a favourable position when planning field research in Aitik in the future. The following are some questions that need to be answered:

- Is it possible from the observed decomposition and N mineralization during incubation to say that the mineralized amounts are similar in the field? If not, what conditions occurring in the field need to be investigated? One can at least expect that the relative differences in temperature and soil moisture are similar.
- It is a positive indication, from an environmental point of view, that barley and red fescue reduce N mineralization during growth. Note, however, that the influence of these species has to be more precisely quantified.
- 3) How can gaseous losses of N be measured and quantified to predict the importance of denitrification (and nitrification) in the field situation in Aitik?

When the sludge is applied to the tailings for the future field study, the degree of decomposition will differ in the organic matter due to differences in storage time and microclimatic conditions (temperature, moisture and oxygen availability). This will have an impact on both respiration rates and N mineralization of the organic matter. Naturally, there is a need to follow up the decomposition of the organic matter during season two, season three and over even longer periods.

References

- Adegbidi, H.G. & Briggs, R.D. 2003. Nitrogen mineralization of sewage sludge and composted poultry manure applied to willow in a greenhouse experiment. *Biomass and Bioenergy 25*, 665-673.
- Alexander, M. 1980. Effects of acidity on microorganisms and microbial processes in soil. In Hutchinson, T.C. & Havas, M. (eds). Effects of Acid Precipitation on Terrestrial Ecosystems. NATO Proceedings. NATO Conference on Effects of Acid Precipitations on Vegetation and Soils. 1978. Toronto. pp. 363-374.
- Andersson, S. & Nilsson, I. 2001. Influence of pH and temperature on microbial activity, substrate availability and leaching of dissolved organic carbon in a mor humus. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33*, 1181-1191.
- Andrén, O. & Paustian, K. 1987. Barley straw decomposition in the field: a comparison of models. *Ecology* 68, 1190-1200.
- Antonopoulos, A.Z. 1999. Comparison of different models to simulate soil temperature and moisture- effects on nitrogen mineralization in the soil. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Sciences 162*, 667-675.
- Artiola, J.F. 1997. Denitrification activity in the vadose zone beneath a sludge-amended semi-arid soil. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 28*, 797-812.
- Badalucco, L. & Kuikman, P.J. 2001. Mineralization and immobilization in the rhizosphere. In Pinton, R., Varanini, Z. & Nannipieri, P. (eds). The Rhizosphere-Biochemistry and Organic Substances at the Soil-Plant Interface. Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York & Basel. 424 pp.
- Barnhisel, R.I., Darmody, R.G. & Daniels, W.L. 2000. (Eds). Reclamation of Drastically Disturbed Lands. ASA, CSSA, SSSA. Agronomy 41. Madison, Wisconsin. 1082 pp.
- Bernal, M.P., Navarro, A.F., Sánches-Monodero, M.A., Roig, A. & Cegarra, J. 1998. Influence of sewage sludge compost stability and maturity on carbon and nitrogen mineralization in soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 30, 305-313.
- Bradshaw, A.D. & Chadwick, M.J, 1980. (Eds). The Restoration of Land. The Ecology and Reclamation of the Relict and Degraded Land. –Studies of Ecology. Blackwell Science, Oxford, 317 pp.
- Brimecombe, M.J., De Leij, F.A. & Lynch, J.M. 2001. The effect of root exudates on rhizosphere microbial populations. *In* Pinton, R., Varanini, Z. & Nannipieri, P. (eds). *The Rhizosphere-Biochemistry and Organic Substances at the Soil-Plant Interface.* Marcel Dekker, Inc. NewYork & Basel. 424 pp.
- Clarholm, M. 1985. Possible roles for roots, bacteria, protozoa and fungi in supplying nitrogen to plants. *In* Fitter, A.H., Read, D.J. & Usher, M.B. (eds). *Ecological Interactions in Soil: Plant Microbes and Animals*. Special publication no. 4 of the British ecological society. Blackwell scientific publications, Oxford. pp. 355-365.
- Davidson, E.A., Swank, W.T. & Perry, T.O. 1986. Distinguishing between nitrification and denitrification as sources of gaseous nitrogen production in soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 52,1280-1286.
- Ferguson, K.D. & Erickson, P.M. 1988. Pre-mine prediction of acid mine drainage. In Chemistry and Biology of Solid Treatment of Dredged Material and Mine Tailings. Slomons, W. & Förstner, U. Springer verlag. Berlin-Heidelberg. pp. 26-30.
- Flanagan, P.W. & Veum, A.K. 1974. Relationships between respiration, weight loss, temperature and moisture in organic residues in tundra. *In* Holding, A.J., Heal, O.W., Maclean S.F. & Flanagan, P.W. (eds). *Soil Organisms and Decomposition in Tundra*, Tundra Biome Steering Committee, Stockholm, Sweden. pp. 249–278.
- Fu, X.C. & Tabatabai, M.A. 1987. Effect of pH on nitrogen mineralization in crop-residuetreated soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils 5*, 115-119.
- Gemmell, R.P. 1977. Colonisation of industrial wasteland. –*Studies in Biology, no. 80.* Edward Arnold Ltd., London. 175 pp.
- Hansson, A.-C., Pettersson, R. & Paustian, K. 1987. Shoot and root production and nitrogen uptake in barley, with and without nitrogen fertilization. *Journal of Agronomy and Soil Science 158*, 163-171.

- Harmsen, G.W. & Kolenbrander, G.J. 1965. Soil inorganic nitrogen. In Bartholomew, W.V. & Clark, F.E. (eds). Soil Nitrogen, No 10., American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin. pp. 43-.
- Harris, R.F. 1981. Effect of water potential on microbial growth and activity. *In Parr, J.F. Gardner, W.R. & Elliot, L.F. (eds) Water Potential Relations in Soil Microbiology.* SSSA Special Publications 9. Soil Science Society of America, Inc., Madison Wisconsin, pp. 23-95.
- Haering, K.C., Daniels, W.L. & Feagley, S.E. 2000. Reclaimed mined lands with biosolids, manures and papermill sludges. *In Barnhisel*, R.I., Darmody, R.G. & Daniels, W.L. (eds). *Reclamation of Drastically Disturbed Lands. Agronomy 41*. ASA, CSSA & SSSA. Madison Wisconsin USA. 1082 pp.
- Jansson, P-E., Johansson, H. & Alvenäs, G. 1989. 3. Heat and water processes. In Andrén, O., Lindberg, T., Paustian, K. & Rosswall, T. (eds). Ecology of Arable Land –Organisms, Carbon and Nitrogen Cycling. –Ecological Bulletins (Copenhagen) 40, 33-40.
- Janzen, H.H. & Radder, G.D. 1989. Nitrogen mineralization in a green amended soil as influenced by cropping history and subsequent crop. *Plant and Soil 120*, 125-131.
- Jenkinson, D.S. 1977. Studies on the decomposition of plant material in soil. V. The effects of plant cover and the loss of carbon from 14C labeled rye grass decomposing under field conditions. *Journal of Soil Science 28*, 424-434.
- Joost, R.E., Olsen, F.J. & Jones, J.H. 1987. Revegetation and minespoil development of coal refuse amended with sewage sludge and limestone. *Journal of Environmental Quality 16*, 65-68.
- Kirchmann, H. 1988. Hushållskompost, avloppsslam och industrirestprodukter i jordbruketproblem, krav och forskningsuppgifter. Swedish University of Agricultural Science. Konsulentavdelningens Rapporter, Allmänt 137. Research Information Center. 37 pp. ISSN 0347-9684 (in Swedish).
- Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 1995. The temperature dependence of soil organic matter decomposition, and the effect of global warming on soil organic C storage. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry 27, 753-760.
- Ledin, S., 1999. Växtetablering på störda marker -särskilt på deponier för gruvavfall. Naturvårdsverket. *Naturvårdsverkets förlag, Stockholm. Rapport 5026.* 103 pp. ISSN 0282-7298. (In Swedish, summary and figure texts in English).
- Lindgren, Å. 1975. Revegeteringsförsök av Lavers anrikningsmagasin. Användning av mineralberedningens restprodukter. *Gruvforskningen, serie B. Svenska Gruvförenignen*, tryckt i juni 1977. ISSN 0349-0084 (In Swedish).
- Lomander, A., Kätterer, T. & Andrén, O. 1998a. Carbon dioxide evolution from top- and subsoil as affected by moisture and constant and fluctuating temperature. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30*, 2017-2022.
- Lomander, A., Kätterer, T. & Andrén, O. 1998b. Modelling the effects of temperature and moisture on CO₂ evolution from top- and subsoil using a multi-compartment approach. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30*, 2023-2030.
- Lynch, J.M. & Whipps, J.M. 1990. Substrate flow in the rhizosphere. Plant and Soil 129, 1
- Malhi, S.S. & McGill, W.B. 1982. Nitrification in three Alberta soils: Effect of temperature, moisture and substrate concentration. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 14, 393-399.
- Mays, D.A., Sistani, K.R. & Soileau, J.M. 2000. Lime and fertilizer needs for land reclamation. In Barnhisel, R.I., Darmody, R.G. & Daniels, W.L. (eds). Reclamation of Drastically Disturbed Lands. Agronomy 41. ASA, CSSA, SSSA. Madison Wisconsin. 1082 pp.
- Paul, E.A. & Clark, F.E. 1996. (Eds). Soil Microbiology and Biochemistry. Academic Press, San Diego. 340 pp.
- Paustian, K., Andrén, O., Boström, U., Clarholm, M., Hansson, A.-C., Johansson, G., Lagerlöf, J., Lindberg, T., Pettersson, R., Rosswall, T., Schnürer, J., Sohlenius, B. & Steen, E. 1990. Carbon and nitrogen budgets of four agroecosystems with annual and perennial crops, with and without N fertilization. *Journal of Applied Ecology 27*, 60-84.
- Pierzynski, G.P. 1994. Plant nutrient aspects of sewage sludge. In Clapp, C.W., Larson, W.E. & Dowdy, R.H. (eds). Sewage Sludge: Land Utilization and the Environment. SSSA, Miscellaneous Publication. pp. 21-25.

- Pinton, R., Varanini, Z. & Nannipieri, P. (eds). 2001. The rhizosphere as a site of biochemical interactions among soil components, plants and microorganisms. *In The Rhizosphere-Biochemistry and Organic Substances at the Soil-Plant Interface.* Marcel Dekker, Inc. NewYork & Basel. 424 pp.
- Plass, W.T. 2000. History of surface mining reclamation and associated legislation. In Barnhisel, R.I., Darmody, R.G. & Daniels, W.L. (eds). Reclamation of Drastically Disturbed Lands. Agronomy 41. ASA, CSSA, SSSA. Madison, Wisconsin. 1082 pp.
- Seaker, E.M. & Sopper, W.E. 1988. Municipal sludge for mine spoil reclamation: II. Effects on organic matter. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 17, 598-602.
- Sikora, L.J., Tester, C.F., Taylor, J.M. & Parr, J.F. 1982. Phosphorus uptake by Fescue from soils amended with sewage sludge compost. *Agronomy Journal* 74, 27-32.
- Sjödahl-Svensson, K. 1993. Do plants affect nitrogen mineralization? Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Department of Ecology and Environmental Research. Report 62. Uppsala, Sweden. 11 pp. ISRN SLU EKOMIL R 62 SE.
- Sjöqvist, T. & Wiklander-Johansson, E. 1985. Vad innehåller slammet? Sammanställning av Slamanalyser vid SLL. Meddelande 52. 39 pp. ISSN 0303-7037 (In Swedish).
- Sommers, L.E. 1977. Chemical composition of sewage sludges and analysis of their potential use as fertilizers. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 6, 225-232.
- Soon, Y.K., Bates, T.E. & Moyer, J.R. 1978. Land application of chemically treated sewage sludge: II. Effects on plant and soil phosphorus, potassium, calcium, and magnesium and soil pH. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 7, 269-273.
- Stanford, G. & Epstein, E. 1974. Nitrogen mineralization-water relations in soils. Soil Science Society of America Proceedings 38, 103-107.

Stockholm Vatten. 2002. Närsalter slam. Miljörapport 2002.

- Stotzky, G. 1965. Microbial respiration. In Black, C.A. (ed). Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Agronomy Monographs 9. ASA. Madison Wisconsin. pp. 1550-1572.
- Sveriges officiella statistik, 2000. Utsläpp till vatten och slamproduktion 2000. Statistiska Meddelanden, MI 22 SM 0101, Statististka Centralbyrån, Stockholm. ISSN: 1403-8978. (In Swedish).
- Tiedje, J.M. 1988. Ecology of dentrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. *In* Zhender, A.J.B. (eds) *Biology of Anaerobic Microorganisms*. Wiley Interscience, New York, Chichester, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore. pp. 179-243.
- Uren, N.C. 2001. Types, amounts and possible functions of compounds released into the rhizosphere by soil-grown plants. *In* Pinton, R., Varanini, Z. & Nannipieri, P. (eds). *The rhizosphere. Biochemistry and Organic Substances at the Soil-Plant Interface.* Marcel Dekker Inc. New York-Basel. 424 pp.
- Volz, M.G. & Heichel, M.G. 1979. Nitrogen transformations and microbial population dynamics in soil amended with fermentation residue. *Journal of Environmental Quality 8*, 434-439.
- Waksman, S.A. & Gerretsen, F.C. 1931. Influence of temperature and moisture upon the nature and extent of decomposition of plant residues by microorganisms. *Ecology 12*, 33-60.
- Whitmore, A.P. & Handayanto, E. 1997. Simulating the mineralization of N from crop residue in relation to residue quality. In Cadish, G. & Giller, K.E. (eds) *Driven by Nature-Plant Litter Quality and Decomposition*. CAB international, Wallingford. 337 pp.
- Zak, D.R., Holmes, W.E., MacDonald, N.W. & Pregitzer, K.S. 1999. Soil temperature, matric potential and the kinetics of microbial respiration and nitrogen mineralization. *Soil Science Society of America Journal 63*, 575-584.

Acknowledgements

This thesis is a result of many people's engagement all with their specific professions. The group of key persons is however small.

Stig Ledin, my supervisor, has since we planned the project during the springtime of 2001, been with me as a "carrier" throughout the project. Stig has been like a guide for me in the field of agricultural and soil science but even more important he has been the supporting person, with a uniquely positive spirit which he has showed in most situations. In addition the joy we had during "dirty" field work in Aitik seems everlasting in my mind.

Thomas Kätterer has taken me through an interesting incubation experiment with a clear hypothesis and a model approach. The full understanding of mathematical modelling for decay will probably take some time, but Thomas really struggled to let me understand the idea of it. He also taught me how to write scientifically "the hard way".

I will also thank Boliden Mineral AB, for financial support for the project. At Aitik, coordination with substrate and seed material and other items, carried out by Iiris Takala and Gunnel Nilsson, was of great importance for both experiments. During field work (not included in this thesis) we got a lot of help from persons at Aitik, whom I want to thank in this way.

Included in the "supervisor group" are also Anders Forsgren, Boliden mineral and Lars-Olof Höglund, MIMI (A Mistra programme which ended in 2003). Anders showed me some succession reclaimed mine sites in Dalarna and in Västerbotten County, in pleasant field trips where I realized the power of soil ecosystem recovery that can occur if conditions are right. Lars-Olof invited me to several academic seminars on reclamation of disturbed mine lands in Sweden, and has also been supportive in other ways.

I also send a great "thank you" to Lovisa Stjernman-Forsberg for the cooperation during the pot experiment which we carried out with odours from sewage sludge and a lot of splashing with water and acid. In addition, during the experiment assistance from Anna Mårtensson was valuable.

Other persons I will thank for assistance with high quality during the experiment or during writing are; Lennart Mattsson, for excellent statistics work up, Mary McAfee for ambitiously correcting my shaky English, Pär Hillström and Allan Lundkvist for experimental set up in the greenhouse and for help with milling and threshing plant material, Kristina Öhman, Inger Juremalm, Rose-Marie Ericsson, Morgan Zaar, Kersin Uisk and Lise Gustafsson for irreproachable analysis work, Holger Kirchmann for the kindness of lending the incubation chambers, Olof Andrén, Stefan Andersson, Tom Ericsson, Erasmus Otabbong and Ernst Witter for being open minded and seriously dealing with my questions of both a theoretical and practical character, Ragnar Persson for helping me with stupid "pc" questions all the time, and for the perfect order of a laptop for me to work with during late evenings and weekends.

Staff at the Division of Hydrotechnics inspired me with lots of humour, probably more than I could return, during lunches and coffee breaks. Finally, all those not mentioned by name but who helped with this thesis, you are not forgotten!